1994

William Lettig v. Scott V. Carver, Warden, Utah
State Prison - Draper; M.R. Sibbett, Chairman of
the Utah Board of Pardons; Fred Trujillo, Hearing
Officer for The Utah Board of Pardons; and All
Other Board of Pardons Members Not Presently
Known to Petitioner : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to consider this case pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(h) (Supp 1993), which grants this court original appellate jurisdiction over appeals from "orders on petitions for extraordinary writs challenging the decisions of the Board of Pardons." Appellant Lettig was originally convicted second degree felony; therefore, this Court has jurisdiction.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court apply the correct standard of review in it's examination of the Board's actions.

2. Did the Board provide sufficient portions of Petitioner's file to him, pursuant to Labrum, to enable Petitioner to adequately present his case to the Board, and make the appropriate corrections or clarifications.

3. Did the three Board members who determined Petitioner's rehearing date, have sufficient accurate documentation to justify a 1996 rehearing.

4. Did the Board abuse it's discretion, exceed it's jurisdiction or fail to perform a duty as required by law.

5. Did the Board violate Petitioner's Due Process rights under Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The choice of a standard of review, for all issues raised, is a legal conclusion that this Court can review for correctness. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994); State v. Warden, 813 P.2d 1146, 1150 (Utah 1991).

STATUTES

Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(h) (Supp 1993)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 2, 1993, Petitioner filed this petition for extraordinary Writ, challenging the actions and decisions of the Board. Lettig claimed that the Board had deprived him of his liberty by revoking his parole and ordering a rehearing for September 1996, without adequate explanation of its reason for denying parole and exceeding the guidelines. Lettig claimed that the guidelines created an expectation of parole, or liberty interest, under Utah law which is protected under the due process clauses of both the state and federal constitutions that the Board violated his rights by exceeding those guidelines.

On December 14, 1993, at a hearing, the Court ordered that the Board grant petitioner a parole hearing and access to his parole file in accordance with the Labrum decision. Subsequently, the Board provided Petitioner an inadequate and incomplete copy of its parole file.

A new hearing before the Board took place January 19, 1994. The result of the new hearing was that the Board ordered an additional requirement, a psychological exam of the Petitioner, prior to any reappearance before the Board. Such an order was retaliatory in nature, without adequate support or explanation.

An Evidentiary Hearing was held on April 18, 1994, before Judge David S. Young. At the Evidentiary Hearing, the Board submitted Petitioner's entire Board "file" into evidence. Petitioner submitted into evidence his copy of the material

provided to him, pursuant to the Labrum decision, in compliance with the order of Judge Young. It was only after examining the entire Board file, (submitted as an Exhibit) that the inaccurate information upon which the decision to grant a 1996 rehearing, was discovered.

Apparently, the Board based their "final" decision on inaccurate information as follows:

a. The inaccurate "fact" that this was Petitioner's "sixth" parole violation. In truth was, that it was only the fourth.

b. The inaccurate "fact" that Petitioner placed "many other citizens" life in peril, when he was arrested for Failure To Stop At Officer's Command. This "fact" was a blatant exaggeration of the truth, which was never supported by any information or report.

Petitioner has long felt that he has been the subject of retaliatory animus on the part of the Board, and was not able to confirm such a belief, until he was afforded the opportunity to examine his entire Board file, which was submitted as an exhibit at the Evidentiary Hearing. The file provided to Petitioner differed from the information available in the Petitioner's entire file, which was placed into evidence at the Evidentiary Hearing. The entire Board file contains references to the Petitioner as a "sniveler", and exhibits a personal disregard for the Petitioner, without benefit of any rationale. In fact, Board's members Don Blanchard and Heather Cook stated on 2-13-92, "...could someone please tell [Defendant] to quit sniveling!" See addendum C.

At the Evidentiary hearing, the testimony of Mr. Garner indicates that while Mr. Garner could remember little else about Lettig (he did not remember the actual number of previous paroles, the mitigating circumstances) he did recall that he had discounted Mr. Lettig's expression of remorse, without explanation or rationale. Such selective application of an expression by an inmate demonstrates a pattern of bias, prejudice and unequal treatment.

It was Don Blanchard who, on July 21, 1993, made the recommendation to change Petitioner's rehearing date to September, 1996. The same Don Blanchard who one year prior had labeled Lettig a "sniveler" in his permanent file, and the same Don Blanchard who caused Mr. Garner to be aware of little else at the evidentiary hearing, except the fact that he totally discounted Lettig's remorse and in fact used Lettig's expression of remorse as a factor to weigh heavily against Lettig in conducting the parole hearing for Lettig, in January, 1994.

The trial court found that the Petitioner failed to prove any wrongful conduct by the Board in this case, and concluded that the Petitioner's case was without merit and should be dismissed. However, the trial court failed to examine the Petitioner's entire Board file, and compare it to the information which was made available to the Petitioner (by the Board), and failed to note that the testimony of Mr. Garner was not supported by the documentation in the file.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 10, 1992 Appellant Lettig was released from the Utah State Prison under a parole agreement signed by the Utah Board of Pardons and Parole (hereinafter "Board").

On June 4, 1994, Lettig was brought back to the Utah State Prison and incarcerated, after he plead guilty to a third degree felony, Failure To Stop At Officer's Command, by Judge Frank G. Noel. Lettig was also incarcerated with several technical parole violations; removal of personal ISP monitoring device and failure to maintain record of residence while on parole.

On July 21, 1993, Petitioner appeared before a single-member panel of the Board, for a parole revocation hearing. The single-member was Fred Trujillo, who exhibited such prejudice toward Petitioner, as to comment on the record that the police (in Petitioner's third degree felony conviction) should have "taken a more permanent solution" to the Petitioner's case.

Mr. Trujillo issued an interim decision revoking Petitioner's parole and ordering that Petitioner's case be scheduled for a rehearing in September of 1995, to consider the next possible parole date. No actual parole date was given.

On or about July 26, 1993, the Board came together at a meeting and considered Petitioner's case and the interim decision of July 21, 1993, and modified the September, 1995 date. A new rehearing date of September, 1996 was set. Petitioner was not present at that meeting and no new evidence or testimony was taken

or considered by the Board. The Rehearing date exceeded the guidelines, and no adequate, and accurate, explanation has ever been provided to Lettig.

On November 2, 1993 Lettig filed a Petition For Extraordinary Relief. Lettig claimed that the Board had deprived him of his liberty by revoking his parole and ordering a rehearing for September of 1996 without an adequate explanation of its reasons for denying parole and exceeding the guidelines, and without adequate access to his file which the Board used to make a final determination.

On December 14, 1993, the case came before the trial court for a scheduled evidentiary hearing to resolve the issues pending. At that time the trial court ordered that Lettig should be permitted to examine his file, pursuant to Labrum v. Utah Board of Pardons, and that the Board should conduct a new parole hearing for Lettig, for the purposes of considering Lettig's parole date.

The Board provided Lettig a partial copy of his file, and a hearing was held on January 19, 1994, in accordance with the court's order. On March 7, 1994 the Appellant requested to amend his complaint and the request was granted, and the amended petition was filed with the court.

An evidentiary hearing was held on the Petition for extraordinary relief on April 18, 1994. The actual information upon which the Board based their "modified" decision was inaccurate, and Petitioner was unaware of the inaccuracy - until the Board submitted the Petitioner's entire file into evidence as an exhibit,

at the Evidentiary (hearing held April 18, 1994) before Judge Young.

Some of the inaccuracies discovered were not included in the information in the Petitioner's file which the court ordered the Board to provide to the Petitioner. In addition, Mr. Garner testified that the decision of the Board was based upon prior convictions, the number of previous paroles (which was an error in Lettig's file) and Lettig's "lack of remorse at the parole hearings". In fact, there is documentation in Lettig's file to indicate that Mr. Lettig was very remorseful, in fact historically he did express remorse, and was never arrogant or defiant.

The Court found that it was convinced by Mr. Garner's testimony. However, the finding of the court are not supported by Mr. Garner's testimony, and are in direct opposition with Mr. Garner's testimony. Additionally the findings of the court do not indicate that the court examined the exhibits (entire Board file of Lettig, tapes of the hearings, etc).

Although the court did examine the entire Board file enough to note Lettig was paroled four times in the past twenty (20) years, and not six (as Mr. Garner and Mr. Trujillo had stated at Lettig's parole hearings) the court failed to examine the file enough to reach a determination as to the other inaccuracies, and prejudicial statements found in the file.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not apply the correct standard of review in it's examination of the Board's actions.

The Board of Pardons did not provide sufficient portions of Petitioner's file to him, pursuant to Labrum, to enable Lettig to adequately present his case to the Board, and make the appropriate corrections or clarifications, or explanations. The actual file reveals that the decision of the Board of Pardons was based upon inaccurate information, and a general prejudice to Appellant Lettig, so egregious that it constitutes a violation of Lettig's Due Process rights under Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution.

The three Board members who determined Petitioner's rehearing date, did not have sufficient accurate documentation to justify a 1996 rehearing, and comments contained in the file, which were made by Don Blanchard and Heather Cook, regarding the fact that they considered Lettig a "sniveler", were so inappropriate as to render the remaining Board members incapable of a just and fair determination. In fact, the one item of information Mr. Garner was able to testify to (without looking at the file) was that he recalled that Mr. Lettig had expressed "appropriate remorse", but decided to discount the expression of remorse, without reason, explanation or justification.

The Board of Pardons abused it's discretion, and exceed it's jurisdiction by failing to perform their duties as required by

law, and the trial court failed to properly examine Lettig's claim's in that regard, or the evidence presented to support Lettig's claim.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT CORRECTLY REVIEW EVIDENCE BEFORE THE BOARD OF PARDONS, THUS THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DEFERRED TO THE BOARD. THE JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT MUST BE VACATED.

Appellant Lettig requested that the trial court conduct a review of the Board's revocation proceeding and that was done in the evidentiary hearing held on April 18, 1994. In substance, Lettig's rule 65B petition request was a request for an appellate review of the Board. In re Discharge of Jones, 720 P.2d 1356, 1360 (Utah 1986); Bennion v. Utah State Bd. of Oil, Gas and Mining, 765P 2d. 1135, 1139-1140 (Utah 1983) Erkman v. Civil Service Comm'n, 198 P2d 238, 240 (Utah 1948); Tolman v. Salt Lake County Attorney, 818 P.2d 23, 26 (Utah App. 1991); Vali Convalescent and Care Inst., v. Dep't of Health, 797 P.2d 438m 443-44 (Utah App. 1988; see also Craig v. State, 844 P.2d 1371, 1373, (Idaho App. 1992); (appeal of district court decision affirming parole commission revocation; In re Appeal of Banks, 630 P.2d 1131, 1133-34 (Kan. 1981) (appeal of administrative decision not to build health facility).

Due to the nature of the appeal, the court should have examined the evidence upon which the Board relied and examined said evidence for clear error. Norman H. Jackson, 7 *Utah Standards of Appellate Review* 9, 13 (1994); Alta Indus. Ltd. v. Hurst, 846 P.2d

1282, 1287 (Utah 1993); Kennecott Corp. v. State Tax Comm'n, 858 P.2d 1381, 1385 (Utah 1993). Not only did the trial court fail to examine the evidence Lettig marshalled, but the evidence the Board supplied was never examined for inaccuracy or due process violations.

The trial court's resulting obligation (at the evidentiary hearing) was to examine the evidence marshalled and examine the Board's findings, and the evidence upon which the Board based their findings, and make a determination as to whether or not the decision was based upon correct and appropriate information, or simply the opinion of the Board that Lettig was a "sniveler" who did not deserve a parole.

The Board never revealed the real reasons for denying Lettig a parole date. The Board's own rules require that an "explanation of the reason for [a] decision [be] given and support in writing." Utah Admin. R. 671-305-2 (1992). When the Board failed to provide the actual basis upon which the decision that Lettig should be given a 1996 rehearing date.

The trial court's findings of Fact, Number 40, found that the decision not to set a parole date for Lettig was based, in part upon "Petitioner's lack of remorse at the parole hearings". However, Lettig's file contains a Board Action Routing Sheet, Parole Violation Hearing, dated July 21, 1993, which states "The subject did display remorse for his actions.....". See addendum B. In addition, Mr. Garner's testimony was not that the Petitioner Lettig displayed a "lack of remorse", as the trial court's Findings

of Fact, Number 40 stated, but, the testimony of Mr. Garner was that Lettig had "five or six or seven" previous paroles (When in fact, he had four) and:

"....at prior hearings [Lettig] displayed himself well, and displayed appropriate remorse and so forth and as a result I think I, as the person conducting the Hearing this time, tended to discount those things at the hearing".

Q. Tended to Discount what?

A. His expressions of remorse, expression of intentions to do better from here on out.

Q. I am a little confused. So your testimony is that even though he displayed remorse and appropriate affect you discounted that display?

A. Correct".

(T. at 27)

There simply was not testimony by Mr. Garner's at the evidentiary hearing, that Lettig was "not remorseful" and the trial court's finding's in that regard improperly supported the Board's actions. Appellant Lettig is unable to defend or overcome such findings by the trial court.

The testimony contradicts the findings. In short, there is simply no rationale or explanation for the Board's actions, which can be supported by either testimony or documentation, and the trial courts' findings are in error.

The trial Court erred when it did not consider or examine the fact that any remorseful or contrite statement's made by Lettig may

have been considered "sniveling" by Mr. Garner, and in fact he was punished (by refusing to follow the Utah Sentence and Release Guidelines) for making any comments relative to his remorse. The Trial Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are erroneous and demonstrate a lack of determination to find out the actual basis upon which the Board made their decisions regarding Appellant Lettig.

Mr. Garner also testified that even though Mr. Lettig has only been paroled three times on his current conviction in 1988, he considered negatively the fact that Mr. Lettig had been paroled on another expired sentence. (T. at 55).

Also Mr. Alan R. Walker testified at the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Walker prepared the report upon which the Board members based their decision. The testimony of Mr. Walker was that he prepared the worksheets for parole violations hearings. (T at 107). Mr. Walker's report was greatly exaggerated and contained inaccurate statements. Mr. Walker's report states that Mr. Lettig "endangered the lives of countless numbers of people in his attempt to escape". (T at 115). In fact, Mr. Lettig was not the driver of the car, but a passenger. An unarmed passenger. The "weapon" which the report refers to is the car itself. There was no documentation submitted to Mr. Lettig which supported Mr. Walker's baseless statements.

Mr. Walker also testified that his report indicated that Mr. Lettig had six prior paroles. The Findings of Fact, issued by the trial court determine that was not accurate. (T at 116)

Although the trial court did note at Finding of Fact number 5,

at page 2, that there had not been six previous paroles, but four. The Findings of Fact did not address at any point the fact that the Board of Pardons based their decisions on a misleading and inaccurate report, made by Mr. Walker. However, Mr. Garner did testify that when Mr. Lettig's counsel attempted to clarify the situation Mr. Garner consider that to be denial or minimizing the situation.

If the purpose of Labrum, was to allow for correction and clarification, and the Board member holds the correction process against the inmate seeking parole, then the notion of due possess has been completely abandoned. The result of Mr. Lettig's attempt to clarify and correct, through both the Board process and the court system, has been that (without being present at the hearing) the Board, on it's own initiative, extended his rehearing date another year in the future. The only occupance, or cause, known to Mr. Lettig is his singular attempt to seek fair treatment. The signal or message from the Board is clear, if an inmate seeks to correct or clarify, the Board punishes them and labels the punishment it's "right" under the Utah indeterminate sentencing system. Such behavior is a blatant violation of due process.

Mr. Lettig marshalled evidence for the trial court that demonstrated clear error on the part of the Board. The trial court's resulting obligation was then to reject the Board's findings as incorrect. Crockett v. Crockett, 836 P.2d 818, 820 (Utah App. 1992) (because of failure to marshal evidence, appellate court assumes record support findings), and also by "elementary

principles of appellate review," Sawyers v. Sawyers, 558 P.2d 607, 608 (Utah 1976) (in the absence of a record, findings are presumed to have been supported by admissible, competent and substantial evidence) Appellant Lettig demonstrated to the trial court that the Board's findings could not be supported by the record in his file and the testimony of Mr. Garner was that he based his decision in inaccurate information and discounted Mr. Lettig's remorse. Based upon the evidence, the decision of the Board could not be supported by "admissible competent and substantial evidence" Id. at 607.

In Ward v. Smith, the court adopted a standard of deference to Board decisions but held that if there exists "a clear abuse of rightful discretion" the Board results could be overturned.

Ward v. Smith, 573 p.2d 781, 782 (Utah 1978). When Mr. Garner refused to accept a statement of remorse, and counted it against Mr. Lettig, when Mr. Garner was not even aware of the actual number of previous paroles, and held an inaccurate number against Lettig, and when the Board unilaterally imposed an additional year, without hearing, Lettig's presence, and no event other than Lettig's attempt to gain access to the court system, via the Writ process, the Board went way beyond their boundaries and abused their "rightful discretion".

THE BOARD DID NOT PROVIDE SUFFICIENT PORTIONS OF APPELLANT'S FILE TO HIM TO ENABLE LETTIG TO ADEQUATELY PRESENT HIS CASE, TO EITHER THE BOARD OR THE TRIAL COURT. NEITHER THE BOARD NOR THE TRIAL COURT CONSIDERED THE INACCURACIES OR THE PREJUDICE EXHIBITED, IN THE FILE, TOWARD THE APPELLANT BY THE BOARD, THUS VIOLATING LETTIG'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.

The Board's counsel placed Lettig's entire file into evidence, at the evidentiary hearing. At no time prior to the evidentiary was Lettig ever able to examine his entire file. Neither Lettig nor his counsel were provided adequate access to the file during the evidentiary hearing, sufficient to examine the file and compare the file to the "copy" Lettig had received. While the Board could have simply placed a copy of what was given to Lettig into evidence, they opted to place the entire, original file into evidence. Thus, Lettig is now entitled to examine the exhibit and determine if anything exists in the Board's file which can possibly explain the Board's prejudicial treatment of Lettig.

The Findings of Fact issued by the trial court do not indicate that the trial court made a thorough examination of Lettig's file, nor indicate the trial court had examined each exhibit, nor mention that the portions of the file provided to Lettig differ considerably, in content, from that which was supplied to Lettig. In Labrum, 870 P.2d at 909, the Supreme Court of the state of Utah made a determine that supported the due process rights established in the Utah Constitution, Article 1, § 7, and stated that due process "requires that the inmate know what information the Board will be considering at the [original parole grant] hearing] and that the inmate know soon enough in advance to have a reasonable

opportunity to prepare responses and rebuttal of inaccuracies".

Labrum further held that the rule applied "to any inmate who currently had a claim pending in the district court or on appeal before this court or the court of appeals challenging original parole grant hearing procedures on due process grounds." Id at 914.

Therefore, the Board abused its discretion, and exceeded its jurisdiction when they failed to perform their duties as set forth in Labrum. Additionally, the trial court not only failed to take note of the Board's inadequate performance with Lettig, the trial court simply rubber stamped the Board's performance, made Findings of Fact which cannot be supported by testimony.