1994

William Lettig v. Scott V. Carver, Warden, Utah
State Prison - Draper; M. R. Sibbett, Chairman of
the Utah Board of Pardons; Fred Trujillo, Hearing
Officer for the Utah Boards of Pardons; and All
Other Board of Pardons Members Not Presently
Known to Petitioner : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Lettig has failed to raise an appropriate issue for this Court's review. Lettig claims that the evidence was insufficient to support the trial court's findings, but has failed to marshal the evidence supporting those findings. Lettig complains that

documents that were not disclosed to him before the evidentiary hearing below provided new or additional evidence to support his petition, but failed to raise that issue in the trial court. Finally, Lettig attacks the trial court for failing to adequately review the evidentiary basis for the Board's decision not to consider him for parole until September 1996. This attack, however, raises an issue outside the proper scope of judicial review of parole decisions, which extends only to the process by which parole decisions are made and does not reach the substance of those decisions. This Court should accordingly affirm the trial court's decision denying Lettig's petition for extraordinary relief.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS BECAUSE LETTIG HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE IN CHALLENGING THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THOSE FINDINGS

Lettig's contention that the trial court's findings are unsupported by the evidence should be rejected because Lettig has utterly failed to comply with this Court's marshaling requirement for challenges to the sufficiency of evidence. This Court has not hesitated to affirm a trial court's findings where the appellant has failed to adequately marshal the evidence supporting the findings. "It is the appellant's burden to marshal the evidence, citing the appellate court to all the evidence in the record that would support the determination reached by the trial court and then

demonstrate why, even when viewed in the light most favorable to the court below, it is insufficient to support the finding under attack." Interiors Contracting, Inc. v. Smith, Halander & Smith Assocs., 881 P.2d 929, 933 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

To properly marshal the evidence, "the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists." West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1313 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (emphasis in original). Thus, in Interiors Contracting, this Court declined to entertain a challenge to the trial court's findings concerning an estoppel claim where the appellant's briefs "merely re-emphasize[d] evidence it deem[ed] supportive of its position, while ignoring evidence supportive of the trial court's findings." 881 P.2d at 933.

Here, Lettig has made no pretense of marshaling the evidence in attacking the trial court's findings. In fact, Lettig's brief is nearly bereft of the record citations that would accompany an adequate marshaling effort. The only finding Lettig specifically attacks is Finding No. 40, which recounts the testimony of Board member Curtis Garner that the Board's decision was "affected by [Lettig's] . . . lack of remorse at the parole hearings." R. 287.

Claiming that Garner's testimony actually contradicted this finding, Lettig selectively emphasizes portions of Garner's testimony, removes them from their context, and then ignores other portions of his testimony. Rather than testifying that Lettig was

remorseful, Garner acknowledged that Lettig expressed remorse, but indicated that he disbelieved those expressions, given Lettig's record of several unsuccessful prior paroles. R. 363 (" [A]t prior hearings, [Mr. Lettig] displayed himself well, indicated appropriate remorse and so forth and as a result I think I, as the person conducting the hearing this time, tended to discount those things at this hearing." (emphasis added)). Moreover, Garner also testified that one of the aggravating factors for the Board's decision was Lettig's "minimization" of his responsibility for the incident that led to his conviction of evading arrest. R. 385. Certainly, the trial court could have reasonably interpreted this evidence as showing Lettig's "lack of remorse."

Lettig has failed to marshal the evidence in support of his attack on Finding No. 40 or any other finding of the trial court. His failure to marshal the evidence thwarts appellate review of his claims. Therefore, this Court should reject Lettig's contention that the trial court's findings were inadequately supported by the evidence.

II.

LETTIG SHOULD NOT BE PERMITTED TO CHALLENGE THE JUDGMENT BELOW BASED ON INFORMATION NEVER BROUGHT TO THE TRIAL COURT'S ATTENTION

This Court should reject Lettig's attempt to overturn the trial court's judgment based on contents of the Board's file that Lettig now claims were not disclosed to him before the January 1994 rehearing. As a general rule, Utah appellate courts "will not

consider an issue, raised for the first time on appeal, unless the trial court committed plain error or the case involves exceptional circumstances." State v. Brown, 856 P.2d 358, 359 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (declining to review challenges initially raised on appeal to constitutional validity of statute and procedures by which defendant was convicted of exhibiting harmful material to a minor).

Appellate courts normally decline to consider issues and arguments not raised below because the "trial court is considered 'the proper forum in which to commence thoughtful and probing analysis of issues.'" Id. (quoting State v. Bobo, 803 P.2d 1268, 1273 (Utah Ct. App. 1990)). Moreover, "failing to argue an issue and present pertinent evidence in [the trial court] denies the trial court 'the opportunity to make any findings of fact or conclusions of law' pertinent to the claimed error." State v. Brown, 856 P.2d at 360 (quoting LeBaron & Assoc. v. Rebel Enter., 823 P.2d 479, 483 n.6 (Utah Ct. App. 1991)).

No plain error or exceptional circumstances exist to justify Lettig's failure to bring the allegedly undisclosed documents to the attention of the trial court. Lettig claims that he first had access to unspecified portions of his file when it was admitted into evidence at the April 1994 evidentiary hearing on his extraordinary writ petition.¹ Assuming this is true, Lettig offers

¹Lettig never specifically identifies what file contents he claims he first saw at or after the evidentiary hearing below. Attached to his brief, however, are two documents on which he apparently relies. Addendum B contains handwritten comments from a February 1992 parole hearing that characterize Lettig's conduct as "snivelling." Lettig contends this document evidences the Board's alleged animosity and prejudice toward him. While the

no explanation of why he failed to raise any concern about previously undisclosed file contents either immediately at the time of the hearing or even within a reasonable time after the hearing.

Contemplating circumstances such as this, Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure expressly confers discretion on the trial court to "open the judgment if one has been entered, take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings and conclusions, and direct the entry of a new judgment." Grounds for such action include "[a]ccident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against" and "[n]ewly discovered evidence, material for the party making the application, which he could not, with reasonable diligence, have discovered and produced at the trial." Utah R. Civ. P. 59(a)(3) & (4) (1994). Cf. Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1) & (2) (1994) (court may set aside judgment on ground of "surprise" and "newly discovered

comments may be offensive, their significance is highly questionable since the Board released Lettig on parole in November 1992. Nevertheless, Lettig has waived this issue by failing to bring the document to the attention of the trial court via a Rule 59 motion or otherwise.

Addendum C contains "Board Action Routing Sheet" for Lettig's July 1993 revocation hearing, which Lettig claims inaccurately refers to his "sixth parole violation." Since Lettig admits this was his fourth parole revocation proceeding, and since he either admitted or failed to contest five separate parole violations at that proceeding alone, R. 282, it is difficult understand Lettig's objection. Lettig also contests the accuracy of the statement contained in Addendum C that Lettig placed citizens' lives in peril in the incident that led to his third degree felony conviction of Failure to Stop at Officer's Command. As discussed in Point III below, the issues of the accuracy of this statement and the impact it may have had on the Board's decision are outside the limited scope of judicial review of parole decisions. Even if such issues were within the appropriate scope of review, however, Lettig waived them by failing to raise them below.

evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b)").

This Court is not the appropriate forum in which to make an initial determination of (1) whether Lettig in fact first discovered portions of his file at the April 1994 evidentiary hearing; (2) if so, whether Lettig could, with reasonable diligence, have obtained that evidence before the hearing; and (3) whether the alleged newly discovered evidence was "such as to render a different result probably on the retrial of the case." See State v. Goddard, 871 P.2d 540, 545 (Utah 1994) (construing Utah R. Civ. P. 59(a)(4)). See also Barnard v. Sutliff, 846 P.2d 1229, 1235 n.2 (Utah 1992) (stating trial court should have the first opportunity to consider whether to set aside judgment on Rule 60(b) grounds); Meyer v. Bartholomew, 690 P.2d 558, 559 (Utah 1984) (rejecting claim of surprise never brought to the attention of trial court by objection, motion to strike, motion for new trial or otherwise).

Once the Board's file was received in evidence below, it remained available for review by Lettig and his counsel. Lettig failed to move the trial court for a new trial based on any previously undisclosed portions of the file and therefore waived any claim he may have had based on the allegedly undisclosed documents. This Court should reject Lettig's belated challenge to the trial court's judgment based on the allegedly undisclosed contents of the Board's file.

III.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT
LETTIG FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ANY DENIAL OF
PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS IN LETTIG'S POST-
REVOCATION PAROLE GRANT HEARING

Lettig's contention that the trial court erred in failing to adequately determine the basis of the Board's decision ignores the limited scope of judicial review of Board of Pardons decisions concerning parole. Both this Court and the Utah Supreme Court have repeatedly emphasized that judicial review of Board of Pardons decisions

is limited to the 'process by which the Board undertakes its sentencing function.' '[W]e do not sit as a panel of review on the result, absent some other constitutional claim.' Furthermore, so long as the period of incarceration decided upon by the board of pardons falls within an inmate's applicable indeterminate range, e.g., five years to life, then that decision, absent unusual circumstances, cannot be arbitrary and capricious.

Preece v. House, 886 P.2d 508, 512 (Utah 1994) (quoting Lancaster v. Utah Bd. of Pardons, 869 P.2d 945, 947 (Utah 1994)). See also Utah Code Ann. § 77-27-5(3) (1995) ("Decisions of the Board of Pardons and Parole in cases involving paroles . . . are final and are not subject to judicial review."); Neel v. Holden, 886 P.2d 1097, 1100 (Utah 1994); Preece v. House, 848 P.2d 163, 164 (Utah Ct. App. 1993), vacated on other grounds, 886 P.2d 508 (Utah 1994); Northern v. Barnes, 825 P.2d 696, 699 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

Here, the Board decided to reconsider Lettig for parole in September 1996. That date was well within the March 2003 expiration date for Lettig's indeterminate sentence of one to fifteen years for his second degree felony offense of Theft.